FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/26/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 8/23/2024 10:15 AM

Court of Appeals No. 85983-8-I

Case #: 1033982

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON ELECTION INTEGRITY COALITION UNITED, a Washington State Nonprofit,

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant/Appellant,

DOUG BASLER, TIMOFEY SAMOYLENKO, *Pro se* Plaintiffs/Appellants v.

JULIE WISE, Director of King County Elections, KING COUNTY,

Defendants/Counterclaimants/Respondents,

WASHINGTON STATE DEMOCRATIC CENTRAL COMMITTEE,

Intervenor-Defendant/Respondent.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellant Washington Election Integrity Coalition United, a Washington State Nonprofit corporation ("WEICU"), seeks review of the Division I Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II.

#### **II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

WEICU seeks review of the unpublished opinion in Washington Election Integrity Coalition United, et al., v. Julie Wise, Director of King County Elections, King County, et al., Case No. 85983-8-I ("Decision").

A true and correct copy of the Decision is in the appendix hereto, at pp. A-1 through A-10.

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the Court of Appeals err when it affirmed the trial court order that struck a signed and verified Public Records Act complaint for lack of an attorney signature?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Summary of the Trial Court Proceedings

In September 2021, WEICU requested inspection of King County's original ballots, ballot images, spoiled ballots, adjudication records, ballot envelopes and returned ballots for the November 3, 2020 General Election. Clerk's Papers ("CP") 11, ¶ 51.

Following King County's denial of examination of original ballots, ballot images, spoiled ballots and returned ballots, WEICU filed a PRA action in Superior Court to compel disclosure under the Public Records Act. CP 11-13. The verified complaint was signed by WEICU Director Tamborine Borrelli. CP 19, 22.

On October 13, 2021, King County removed the action to federal district court, Western District of Washington. CP 28-66. WEICU moved for remand. After a lengthy sojourn in federal court, remand was granted. The matter was returned to state court as of October 24, 2022. CP 67-91. Counsel for WEICU filed two Notices of Appearance. One in federal court on October 17, 2021. CP 68, 73 (Docket 7). The other in state court on October 26, 2022 following remand. CP 92-94.

On January 6, 2023, King County answered the complaint in state court and also counterclaimed against WEICU under the PRA for permanent injunctive relief. CP 95-118. King County raised no objections to WEICU's Director Borrelli's signature on the complaint.

King County subsequently filed a global motion for summary judgment. CP 310-339. As part of its motion, King County sought injunctive relief under RCW 42.56.540 to permanently prevent WEICU from inspecting the ballot related records. CP 114; RCW 42.56.540.

The trial court found each of the four categories of public records impliedly exempt under a combination of: RCW 29A.60.110, WAC 434-25-110, Article VI, §6 of the State Constitution, *White v. Clark County*, 188 Wn.App. 622, 354 P.3d 38 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1009 (2016), White
v. Skagit County, 188 Wn.App. 886, 355 P.3d 1178 (2015),
review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1009 (2016), White v. Clark County,
199 Wn.App. 929, 401 P.3d 375 (2017), review denied, 189
Wn.2d 1031 (2018) (collectively "White Opinions"), and Senate
Bill 5459. CP 1032, 1. 17 to 1033, 1. 6.

The trial court determined that based on the implied exemption, King County's injunctive relief claim was "unnecessary." CP 1033, 1. 22 (emphasis added). The trial court's orders are void of the requisite findings under RCW 42.45.540 that ballot inspection would: 1) clearly not be in the public interest; and, 2) would substantially and irreparably damage any person, or would substantially and irreparably damage vital governmental functions.

In the alternative, the trial court struck WEICU's PRA claim under Civil Rule 11 on grounds that "[a] complaint filed by a corporate body must bear the signature of a licensed attorney." CP 1033, II. 7-10; CP 1034, II. 3-4.

# **B.** The Court of Appeals Affirmed the Striking of a Verified Complaint and Determined That the Action and Appeal Are "Frivolous"

The complaint herein was both <u>signed</u> and <u>verified</u> by WEICU director Tamborine Borrelli. CP 19, 22.

On appeal, Division I determined that "[b]ecause WEICU's complaint was not signed <u>by an attorney</u> and the omission was not remedied within a reasonable time from when King County moved for summary judgment, the trial court properly struck WEICU's PRA claim under CR 11." A-6 to A-7 (emphasis added). As a result, the Court "[did] not address WEICU's remaining arguments related to its PRA claim.[fn]" A-7.

The Court of Appeals criticized WEICU's counsel for not seeking "[1]eave to amend the complaint. . . ". A-9. The Court further criticized WEICU for pursing an appeal of a verified PRA claim "despite the **fatal omission** under CR 11." *Id.* (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals concluded that WEICU's PRA

action and appeal were "frivolous" and ordered sanctions against WEICU and its counsel under Civil Rule 11, RAP 18.1 and RAP 18.9. A-9 to A-10. Reconsideration was denied via an order entered July 25, 2024.

#### V. ARGUMENT

This is a case of first impression that has led to a startling absurd result.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the belated striking of a signed and verified complaint for a purported *lack* of attorney signature. CP 1034, ll. 1-4. The Court of Appeals opined that the purported lack of signature on a <u>signed</u> and <u>verified</u> complaint constituted a "fatal omission." A-9. Based thereon, the Court declined to address any additional errors on appeal, rendering the majority of the Decision to be mere *dicta*.<sup>1</sup> A-6 to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The Court of Appeals altogether ignored Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 11, 12, 14, 15, 16, 17. There is no indication in the Decision that any of these errors was not properly preserved under RAP 2.5(a). The Court also struck portions of WEICU's opening brief and related trial court evidence

A-7.

The Court of Appeals further determined that newly appearing counsel, upon the filing of a notice of appearance, has a *sua sponte* affirmative duty to sign and re-file earlier filed pleadings for the action. A-6. The Court of Appeals treated a notice of appearance in this matter as requiring more than becoming an attorney of record, despite a complete lack of tradition which could support such a notion.

The Court's affirmations and findings have no support in state court Civil Rule 11, Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, or in standard practice. The Court's rulings also cannot be harmonized with Civil Rule 9(a) or Civil Rule 12.

Moreover, any striking of a verified complaint under any civil rule or statute should have been done without prejudice and with leave to correct the perceived defect. Instead, the trial

seemingly to avoid addressing Assignments of Error Nos. 6, 7 and 9.

court and Court of Appeals treated a party's signature on a complaint as a jurisdictional <u>lack of standing</u> over the person which rendered the complaint inoperative.

This absurd result must be corrected.

## A. The Decision Directly Conflicts with the Civil Rules

Civil Rule 9(a) provides in pertinent part: "When a party desires to raise an issue as to the legal existence of any party or the capacity of any party to sue or be sued or the authority of a party to sue or be sued in a representative capacity, he shall do so by specific negative averment which shall include such supporting particulars as are peculiarly within the pleader's knowledge." CR 9(a). This cannot be more clear – a specific statement describing the defect is required.

"A defense of lack of jurisdiction over the person. . . is waived. . . if it is neither made by motion under this rule [Civil Rule 12] nor included in a responsive pleading or an amendment thereof permitted by rule 15(a) to be made as a matter of course." CR 12(h). The text of Civil Rule 11 does not address corporate parties or in any way bar a complaint filed by an authorized corporate representative.

In answering WEICU's PRA claim, and in asserting its own counter-claims against WEICU, King County submitted itself to state court jurisdiction. CP 95-118. It was then obligated to follow and be bound by the civil rules, including Civil Rule 12. However, King County failed to assert any negative averment, affirmative defense, or Civil Rule 12 motion with regard to WEICU's signature of its verified complaint. By failing to do so, King County <u>waived</u> any argument that the court lacked personal jurisdiction over WEICU or that WEICU was not properly before the court.<sup>2</sup> CR 9(a); CR 12.

The Court of Appeals failed to properly analyze these

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> King County also registered no complaints with the signature on the verified complaint at the time when WEICU's counsel filed a notice of appearance both at the federal and state levels. CP 73 (Docket No. 7); CP 92-94. Any such complaints were waived.

procedural bars to King County obtaining relief.

# B. The Decision Conflicts with Appellate Decisions Providing Leave to Correct any Perceived Signature Defects

None of the cases cited in the Decision involve PRA claims or any set of facts in which a court struck verified claims of a represented corporation with no leave given to correct a perceived signature defect. RAP 13.4(b)(2); A-5 to A-6 (citing Dutch Village Mall v. Pelletti, 162 Wn.App. 531, 256 P.3d 1251 (2011) (trial court granted 30 days leave to a pro se LLC party to either withdraw or submit pleadings signed by an attorney); Rowland v. California Men's Colony, Unit II Men's Advisory Council, 506 U.S. 194 (1993) (holding only a natural person may qualify for treatment *in forma pauperis* under 28 U.S.C. §1915(a) and noting that corporations may appear in federal courts only through licensed counsel); *Biomed Comm*, Inc. v. Dep't of Health, Bd of Pharm., 146 Wn.App. 929, 193 P.3d 1093 (2008) (a court may strike a pleading of a corporation that is not signed by an attorney, provided the court

gives the corporation a reasonable time to correct the error); *Lloyd Enterprises, supra*, 91 Wn.App. at 700 (*pro se* corporate litigant given 20 days' leave to obtain counsel to file an answer)).

None of the cases cited in the Decision permit a defendant to engage in pending litigation, including discovery, for many months (in this case over 19 months) before suddenly claiming all proceedings must be stopped for lack of an attorney's signature on the original complaint. The Civil Rules prohibit late-stage technical defenses that would otherwise upend the course of litigation for a reason.

Nothing in Civil Rule 11 or other civil rules requires an appearing attorney to go back to fix something. Nothing in Civil Rule 11 bars a *pro se* corporation from filing suit. Nothing in Civil Rule 11 bars an authorized corporate representative from acting as an attorney in fact for the corporation. Nothing in Civil Rule 11 bars a corporate representative from filing a PRA enforcement action. Nothing in Civil Rule 11 requires an

11

attorney to sign and re-file an amended complaint while a summary judgment motion is in progress.

Even assuming a trial court were to disagree, the traditional remedy is to allow the corporation to obtain counsel. The remedy is not to sandbag the corporation by striking a verified complaint 19 months into litigation and 18 months <u>after</u> it has retained counsel for the action. CP 1034, ll. 1-4; CP 73 (Docket No. 7 Notice of Appearance filed 10/17/2021).

## C. The Decision Conflicts with the Appellate Jurisdiction Over WEICU

"Since jurisdiction involves the essential power of the court, it has been consistently held that an appellate court must sua sponte examine its jurisdiction and the jurisdiction of the trial court and if either is defective, the reviewing court must dismiss." Allan D. Vestal, *Sua Sponte Consideration in Appellate Review*, 27 Fordham L. Rev. 477, 499 (1958) (citing, *inter alia, American Fire & Cas. Co. v. Finn*, 341 U.S. 6, 17 (1951) (superseded by statute on other grounds).) WEICU filed its Notice of Appeal on July 11, 2023. CP 1019-1048. The Court of Appeals accepted WEICU's Notice of Appeal and took jurisdiction over the appellate matter with no notice that it lacked personal jurisdiction over WEICU. WEICU is undeniably an indispensable party to its own PRA claim. RCW 42.56.550(1); CR 19.

If the Court of Appeals lacked personal jurisdiction over WEICU because of an inoperative complaint, it would not have reason or jurisdictional grounds to issue any decision, let alone a ten page Decision.<sup>3</sup>

The Court of Appeals arguably allowed the appeal of an inoperative complaint, when in fact, the role of the Court of Appeals is to correct prejudicial errors that affect the outcome of the case. WEICU cannot be sanctioned for the Court of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Likewise, if the trial court had lacked personal jurisdiction over WEICU, it would have lacked jurisdiction over the PRA claim *ab initio* and could not have presided over the case or issued any orders. CP 1024-1048.

Appeals' decision to take up its appeal and assert jurisdiction over the person of WEICU.

#### **D.** No Appellate Decision Bars *pro se* PRA Complaints

Corporations are "persons" under the PRA entitled to both bring PRA claims in superior court and to be awarded PRA attorney's fees. RCW 42.56.550(1); *Neighborhood Alliance v. County of Spokane*, 153 Wash.App. 241, 224 P.3d 775 (2009); *Cowles Publishing Co. v. City of Spokane*, 69 Wn.App. 678, 686, 849 P.2d 1271, *rev. denied*, 122 Wn.2d 1013 (1993) (ruling that a corporation could be awarded attorney fees (citing former RCW 42.17.020(22) defining "person" to include corporations)).

Contrary to the Decision, no authority (including Civil Rule 11) bars *pro se* PRA complaints, including complaints signed and verified by corporate requestors. Nor is there any authority requiring a newly-appearing attorney to amend or sign a previously signed and verified PRA action.

# E. The Decision Conflicts with PRA Case Opinion Involving Debatable Issues

A PRA requestor may not be sanctioned for taking a "frivolous" position where a case raises reasonably debatable issues. RAP 13.4(b)(2); *Vance v. Offices of Thurston County Commissioners*, 117 Wn.App. 660, 672, 71 P.3d 680 (2003) (rejecting agency claim that requestor's appeal was frivolous, when requester presented "reasonably debatable issues"), *review denied*, 151 Wn.2d 1013 (2004).

"Raising at least one debatable issue precludes finding that [an] appeal as a whole is frivolous." Advocates for Responsible Dev. v. Western Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 170 Wash.2d 577, 580, 245 P.3d 764 (2010) (citing Green River Cmty. Coll. Dist. No. 10 v. Higher Educ. Pers. Bd., 107 Wash.2d 427, 443, 730 P.2d 653 (1986).)

Awarding sanctions based on contested issues of first impression is an abuse of discretion:

Because of a lack of Washington authority, a lack of uniformity in the cases elsewhere, the ABA's

comment to Model Rule 1.13, and disagreement among experts in Washington, we hold that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that Hicks's opposition to Edwards's motions was "baseless" in the sense of not being supported by a good faith argument for an extension of existing law.

Hicks v. Edwards, 75 Wn.App. 156, 166, 876 P.2d 953 (Wash.

App. 1994). The court in *Hicks* reversed a sanctions award, noting that the purpose behind Civil Rule 11 is to deter baseless filings and to curb abuses of the judicial system and not to chill an attorney's enthusiasm or creativity in pursuing factual or legal theories. *Id.*, at. 162-163 (quoting *Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.*, 119 Wash.2d 210, 217, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992)). Complaints which are grounded in fact and warranted by existing law or a good faith argument for the extension, modification, or reversal of existing law are not baseless claims, and are therefore not the proper subject of sanctions. *Id.* 

The instant complaint was grounded in fact as shown by King County's claim of exemptions to disclosure and was warranted by existing law – RCW 42.56.540.

# F. No Appellate Decision Awards Attorney Fees for the Successful Defense of a PRA Claim

"There do not appear to be any reported case[s] in which an agency sought attorney fees when it was successful in its defense of the lawsuit by the requesting party." Washington's Public Disclosure and Open Public Meetings Laws (WSBA) (2d. ed. 2014, 2020 Supplement), Chapter & Section 18.4, p. 15 ("*Public Disclosure Deskbook*").

"The express language of the [PRA] statute would seem to prevent such an award because it only applies to a party that successfully obtains access to records as a result of the lawsuit." *Id.*, referring to the Supreme Court's interpretation of *Yakima Newspapers, Inc. v. City of Yakima*, 77 Wn.App. 319, 890 P.2d 544 (1995) in *Confederated Tribes v. Johnson*, 135 Wn.2d 734, 757 (1998).

Similarly, PRA attorney's fees may not be awarded to an agency or a third party seeking an injunction under RCW

42.56.540 if it is successful. *Public Disclosure Deskbook*, *supra*, Chapter 18.4 at p. 16.

The Court of Appeals has cited to <u>no authority</u> for the proposition that it is entitled to award attorney's fees on appeal for the successful defense of a PRA claim. It is worth noting that no fees were awarded to King County by either the federal court or the trial court.

Yet the Court of Appeals has determined, *without* addressing a motion, making the requisite findings under RCW 4.84.185<sup>4</sup>, or requesting supplemental briefing, that both WEICU's PRA claim <u>and</u> its appeal are "frivolous." A-9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RCW 4.84.185 requires the court enter a written finding that the action "was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause". The Decision is void of such finding. In addition, the determination of "frivolous" is required to be made "upon motion by the prevailing party after a . . . final order terminating the action as to the prevailing party." To date, King County has filed no such motion – either at the trial court level or on appeal.

# G. Division I Must Adhere to Its Own Prior PRA Decisions

"A petition for review will be accepted. . . [i]f the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals . . . . " RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Division I is subject to the basic principles of *stare decisis* and must adhere to its own prior decisions, absent compelling reasons to overrule itself. *State v. Stalker*, 152 Wn. App. 805, 811, 219 P.3d 722 (Wash. App. 2009) ("The doctrine of stare decisis provides this necessary clarity and stability in the law, gives litigants clear standards for determining their rights, and "prevent[s] the law from becoming `subject to incautious action or the whims of current holders of judicial office.''' [quoting *Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 208 P.3d 1092, 166 Wn.2d 264, 278 (2009)].)

In 2023, Division I issued a published decision in *Doe v*. *Seattle Police Dep't*. finding that a PRA exemption does <u>not</u> prevent the disclosure of records: In addition to setting forth exemptions to the mandate for disclosure of public records, the PRA includes an injunction provision stating that disclosure may be enjoined only when "examination would clearly not be in the public interest and would substantially and irreparably damage any person, or would substantially and irreparably damage vital governmental functions." RCW 42.56.540. Based on this statutory provision, our Supreme Court has held that "finding an exemption applies under the PRA does not ipso facto support issuing an injunction." Lyft, 190 Wn.2d at 786. Rather, for the disclosure of records to be precluded due to a statutory exemption, the court has held that the PRA's standard for injunctive relief must also be met. Morgan v. City of Federal Way, 166 Wn.2d 747, 756-57, 213 P.3d 596 (2009); see also Soter v. Cowles Publ'g Co., 162 Wn.2d 716, 757, 174 P.3d 60 (2007) (plurality opinion) ("[T]o impose the injunction contemplated by RCW 42.56.540, the trial court must find that a specific exemption applies and that disclosure would not be in the public interest and would substantially and irreparably damage a person or a vital government interest.").

Doe v. Seattle Police Dep't., Case No. 83700-1-I slip opinion

(Wash. App. 2023), at pp. 10-11 (emphasis added).

Division I side-stepped its own recent published decision

in Doe v. Seattle Police Dep't. by declaring a signed and

verified PRA complaint was not a signed pleading under Civil

Rule 11. It turned a blind eye to the egregious errors surrounding King County's PRA injunctive relief claim. If it had addressed those errors, it would have had to follow its <u>own</u> published decision and remand the matter for findings consistent with RCW 42.56.540. An appellate division is <u>not</u> entitled to ignore its own internal precedent.

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