FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/26/2024 3:25 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

### NO. 103,398-2

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## WASH. ELECTION INTEGRITY COALITION UNITED, DOUG BASLER AND TIMOFEY SAMOYLENKO, Appellants,

v.

JULIE WISE, King County Director of Elections, AND KING COUNTY, and WASHINGTON STATE DEMOCRATIC CENTRAL COMMITTEE, Respondents,

## KING COUNTY RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION (she/her) PROSECUTING ATTORNEY

ANN SUMMERS, WSBA #21509 MARI ISAACSON, WBSA #429 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for King County 701 Fifth Ave., Suite 600 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 477-1120

# **

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

# II. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED.

## A. The Court of Appeals Decision Is Not in Conflict with Any Decisions of This Court or the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals relied on well-established precedent in affirming the superior court's grant of summary judgment. The decision is not in conflict with any decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals and thus does not meet the standard for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

Although an individual has a right to self-representation, this right does not extend to corporations. *Dutch Village Mall*, 162 Wn. App. 531, 535, 256 P.3d 1251 (2011) (citing RCW 2.48.170)); *Lloyd Enterprises, Inc. v. Longview Plumbing & Heat. Co.*, 91 Wn. App. 2d 697, 701, 958 P.2d 1035 (1998), *review denied*, 137 Wn. 2d 1020 (1999). A corporation appearing in a court proceeding must be represented by an attorney. *Id.* All pleadings and motions must be signed by the attorney representing a corporate party, and the failure to do so is a proper basis for the court to strike a pleading or motion. CR 11(a). *Dutch Village Mall, supra,* 162 Wn. App. at 539 ("When a corporate entity presents a pleading not signed by an attorney, CR 11 is a proper basis for striking the pleading.") (citing *Biomed Comm, Inc. v. Dep't of Health, Bd. of Pharm.*, 146 Wn. App. 929, 938, 193 P.3d 1093 (2008)).

In this case, it is undisputed that no attorney signed the complaint on behalf of WEICU, a nonprofit corporation. CP 19-21. Instead, Tamborine Borrelli, who is neither an attorney nor a party, signed on behalf of WEICU. CP 19. Although Shogren, WEICU's present attorney, filed a subsequent notice of appearance with the court for WEICU only, no amended complaint was ever filed. CP 92-93.

Notably, in December of 2021, the Franklin County Superior Court dismissed a nearly identical lawsuit by WEICU against the Franklin County Auditor pursuant to CR 11 because the complaint was "invalid on behalf of plaintiff Washington Election Integrity Coalition United for lack of a proper attorney signature." CP 345-46. Shogren represented WEICU in that case. CP 1121-24.

Likewise, in *WEICU v. Inslee*, this Court imposed sanctions on WEICU and Shogren pursuant to RAP 18.9 for a similar failure to comply with the rules requiring a corporation to file pleadings signed by a licensed attorney. CP 635-42. The motion for sanctions in that case was based in part on the fact that WEICU's petition to the Supreme Court was filed by an unrepresented corporation. CP 650-51. As in this case, Shogren entered a notice of appearance for WEICU after the petition was filed, but never cured the violation of the court rules and common law by filing an amended petition signed by counsel. CP 651. Thus, this case appears to be part of a pattern of cases where WEICU is represented by Shogren, but Shogren declines to sign key pleadings.

It was undisputed below that no attorney signed the operative complaint on behalf of WEICU. In the 21 months between when the complaint was filed and when the trial court granted summary judgment, Shogren made no attempt to file an amended complaint that complied with CR 11.

WEICU argues that CR 11 does not require a complaint filed by a corporate body to be signed by an attorney. As the trial court and the Court of Appeals properly concluded, this is simply incorrect. CR 11 requires that "every pleading" "shall be dated and signed by at least one attorney of record." CR 11(a). While "[a] party who is not represented by an attorney shall sign and date the party's pleading" pursuant to CR 11(a), a corporation may not proceed pro se and must be represented by a licensed attorney. *Cottringer v. State, Dep't of Employment Sec.*, 162 Wn. App. 782, 787, 257 P.3d 667 (2011) (quoting *Dutch Village*, 162 Wn. App. at 535). "The rules permitting pro se representation do not apply to corporations." *Lloyd Enterprises*, 91 Wn. App. at 699. The common law in Washington is not unique in this regard. "It has been the law for the better part of two centuries, for example, that a corporation may appear in the federal courts only through licensed counsel." *Rowland v. California Men's Colony, Unit II Men's Advisory Council*, 506 U.S. 194, 201–02 (1993).

Lloyd Enterprises, supra, 91 Wn. App. at 699, illustrates this principle. That case arose from a contract dispute between two corporations. *Id.* The attorney for the plaintiff corporation, Berry, Inc. withdrew. *Id.* The defendant corporation, Lloyd Enterprises, Inc., filed a second action, and the president of the Berry answered pro se. *Id.* The actions were consolidated, and Lloyd Enterprises moved to strike all pleadings that had been submitted by Berry pro se. *Id.* The court dismissed the claims brought by Berry with prejudice and entered a default judgment for Lloyd Enterprises. The Court of Appeals affirmed, explaining that "[b]ecause Berry, Inc., was required to be represented by an attorney, the trial court acted appropriately under Superior Court Civil Rule 11 when it struck those documents submitted by Berry on behalf of Berry, Inc.." *Id.* at 701. *See also Biomed Comm, Inc., supra,* 146 Wn. App. at 938 (stating cases "make clear that CR 11 is a proper basis for striking the pleading of a corporation that is not signed by an attorney"); *Island County v. Cosmic Light Creations*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 1016, 2017 WL 5291493, at \*2 (November 13, 2017) (unpublished) (explaining that a request to strike pleadings filed by a non-attorney on behalf of a corporation "would have been well-founded under CR 11 because a pleading signed by a party not authorized to do so is, in effect, unsigned").<sup>7</sup>

WEICU's attempts to distinguish *Dutch Village Mall v. Pelletti, supra,* are unavailing. In *Dutch Village*, 162 Wn. App. at 534, the LLC in question had a sole owner, member and officer, who was not an attorney, but attempted to represent the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This unpublished case is cited pursuant to GR 14.1 as nonbinding authority, to be accorded such persuasive value as this Court deems appropriate.

corporation in court. The superior court ordered the pleadings filed by Dutch Village to be stricken, unless within 30 days the corporation "obtained the signature of an attorney on the pleadings." Id. at 535 (emphasis added). The superior court did not simply require Dutch Village to obtain an attorney, but to refile the pleadings with the signature of an attorney. This Court affirmed, explaining, "[t]he trial court correctly granted the motion to strike the pleadings of Dutch Village Mall unless, within 30 days, they were either withdrawn or signed by an attorney." Id. at 539 (emphasis added). Thus, WEICU's argument-that an improperly filed pleading can be remedied by a subsequent notice of appearance—is refuted by the facts and holding of that case.

There is notably no support for WEICU"s argument that King County and Director Wise "waived" the requirements of CR 11 when the issue was timely raised in the motion for summary judgment.

Likewise, there is no support for WEICU's claim that PRA actions are not governed by the CR 11. The civil rules "govern the procedure in the superior court in all suits of a civil nature" except "where inconsistent with rules or statutes applicable to special proceedings...." CR 1; CR 81(a). This Court long ago held that an action under the PRA is not a special proceeding. Spokane Research & Def. Fund v. City of Spokane, 155 Wn.2d 89, 104, 117 P.3d 1117 (2005). Thus courts have consistently applied the civil rules to PRA proceedings. Id. at 105 ("normal civil procedures are an appropriate method to prosecute a claim under the liberally construed PDA."); Neighborhood Alliance, 172 Wn.2d 702, 716, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) ("the civil rules control discovery in a PRA action."); Rufin v. City of Seattle, 199 Wn. App. 348, 361-62, 398 P.3d 1237 (2017) (holding CR 68 applies in PRA actions). Washington cases clearly establish that an action under the PRA is not a special proceeding, and the civil rules apply.

The verified complaint in this case was not signed by an attorney. Despite being on notice of this defect, WEICU never attempted to file an amended complaint signed by an attorney. The operative complaint violated CR 11. The trial court properly struck WEICU's PRA claim and denied its motions because the PRA claim violated CR 11 and was not properly before the court. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed on this grounds. Since this holding is consistent with Washington cases and two centuries of common law, it does not meet the standard for review by this Court set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

B. Moreover, Washington Law Precludes Disclosure of Ballots, Ballot Images and Voter Signatures, and Thus This Case Does Not Involve a Substantial Issue of Public Importance That Needs To Be Determined by this Court.

WEICU sought "a Court order compelling release of the public records, including a Court order unsealing ballots under RCW 29A.60.110, for a full forensic audit conducted by Jovan Hutton Pulitzer, inventor of the kinematic artifact detection and Maricopa County Arizona ballot auditor of approximately 2.1 million ballots." CP 2. WEICU's public records request was denied by Director Wise because ballots and ballot images are exempt under Washington law. CP 11. The trial court properly concluded that WEICU's PRA claim failed as a matter of law because controlling state law establishes that ballots, ballot images and voter signatures on ballot envelopes are exempt from public disclosure.

The Washington Constitution includes a broad guarantee of ballot secrecy. Wash. Const. art. VI, § 6, states "All elections shall be by ballot. The legislature shall provide for such method of voting as will secure to every elector absolute secrecy in preparing and depositing his ballot." In addition, state and federal laws require ballot security. After tabulation, RCW 29A.60.100 requires all ballots to be sealed in containers and retained according to federal law. The containers may only be opened by the canvassing board under limited circumstances: as part of the canvass, to conduct recounts, to conduct a random check as authorized by statute, to conduct an audit authorized by statute,

or by order of the superior court in an election dispute. *Id.* The Civil Rights Act of 1960, now codified at 52 U.S.C. §§ 20701-20706, governs "[f]ederal election records," and applies to the materials at issue in this case because the November 2020 general election included federal offices. Section 301 of the Act requires state and local election officials to "retain and preserve" all records relating to any "act requisite to voting" for twenty-two months after the conduct of "any general, special, or primary election" at which citizens vote for "President, Vice President, presidential elector, Member of the Senate, [or] Member of the House of Representatives," 52 U.S.C. § 20701. The materials covered by Section 301 extend beyond "papers" to include other "records." Id. Jurisdictions must therefore also retain and preserve records created in digital or electronic form.

In a series of cases, Washington courts have unanimously held that the legislature intended for ballots to be exempt from public disclosure in light of the broad constitutional guarantee of ballot secrecy and the statutes and regulations that govern the handling of ballots. In *White v. Clark County*, 188 Wn. App. 622, 627, 354 P.3d 38 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1009 (2016) (White I), Division Two of the Court of Appeals held that pretabulated ballots are exempt from public disclosure. In *White v*. Skagit County, 188 Wn. App. 886, 890, 355 P.3d 1178 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1009 (2016) (White II), the same plaintiff filed suit against Skagit and Island Counties after they denied his request for electronic or digital image files of ballots received, cast, voted, or otherwise used in the 2013 general election. Division One held that ballots were exempt from public disclosure. Id. at 900. The Court of Appeals noted that "the legislature has gone into great detail to ensure that the process of collecting, counting, storing, and ultimately destroying ballots achieves the constitutional mandate for a secret ballot." Id. at 894. The Court of Appeals explained:

White's argument that even greater transparency would promote public confidence in elections is a matter of policy for the legislature to consider. It is not supported by the statutes as they are currently written. Allowing observers at various stages of ballot processing is fundamentally different from allowing every member of the public to inspect images of every ballot cast. Ballot boxes are not to be opened nor votes recounted "on mere suspicion and on mere demand." *Quigley v. Phelps*, 74 Wn. 73, 81, 132 P. 738 (1913). The statutes that regulate the handling of ballots do not manifest a legislative intent to facilitate public inspection of voted ballots. They manifest a legislative intent to protect ballot secrecy by maintaining the integrity of ballot processing and tabulation.

Id. at 897.

A few years later, in *White v. Clark County*, 199 Wn. App. 929, 931, 401 P.3d 375 (2017), *review denied*, 189 Wn.2d 1031 (2018) (*White III*), Division Two found that the exemption recognized in *White I* applied to tabulated ballots as well as pre-tabulated ballots. *Id.* at 932.

Most recently, Division Three agreed with the *White* decisions that ballots and ballot images are exempt from public disclosure, and this Court denied review. *Washington Election Integrity Coalition United v. Schumacher*, 28 Wn. App. 2d 176, 537 P.3d 1058 (2023), *review denied*, 2 Wn.2d 1025 (March 6, 2024).

Most importantly, in 2023 the Legislature made its agreement with the courts' interpretation of the PRA explicit by enacting Senate Bill 5459, which now provides that "Voted ballots, voted ballot images, copies of voted ballots, photographs of voted ballots, facsimile images of voted ballots, or case vote records of voted ballots, starting at the time of ballot return, during storage per RCW 29A.60.110, and through destruction following any retention period or litigation" are "exempt from disclosure" under 42.56 RCW. RCW 42.56.425(1)(e); Laws of 2023, Ch. 404, § 4 (effective July 23, 2023). Washington courts have long "presume[d] that the legislature is aware of judicial interpretations of its enactments and takes its failure to amend a statute following a judicial decision interpreting that statute to indicate legislative acquiescence in that decision." State v. Otton, 185 Wn.2d 673, 685–86, 374 P.3d 1108 (2016) (quoting City of Federal Way v. Koenig, 167 Wn.2d 341, 348, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009)). In this case, the legislature took no action in light of the White decisions until 2023, when it explicitly adopted their

interpretation exempting ballots and ballot images from public disclosure. There can be no clearer evidence of legislative acquiescence.

In regard to voters' signatures on ballot envelopes, which WEICU also requested, RCW 42.56.420 was amended in 2022, to provide that voter signatures on ballot return envelopes are also subject public disclosure. Former RCW not to 42.56.420(7)(a)(iii); Laws of 2022, ch. 140, sec. 1. The session law that enacted that provision also provided "The exemptions in sections 1 and 2 of this act apply to any public records request made prior to the effective date of this section for which disclosure of records has not already been completed." Laws of 2022, ch. 140, sec. 3. In 2023, the exemption for voters' signatures on ballot return envelopes was moved to newly enacted RCW 42.56.425. Laws of 2023, ch. 404, §§ 3-4. RCW 42.56.425(1)(c) now provides that "voter signatures on ballot return envelopes, ballot declarations and signature correction

forms, including the original documents, copies, and electronic images" are exempt from disclosure.

The trial court correctly found that as a matter of law, the ballots, ballot images and voter signatures requested by WEICU are exempt from public disclosure and King County and Direct Wise did not violate the PRA by withholding them pursuant to authoritative precedent. The trial court properly dismissed WEICU's PRA claim and denied WEICU's motion to show cause. The trial court also properly granted King County and Director Wise's request for declaratory relief.

In sum, WEICU's PRA claim, besides being improperly pled in violation of CR 11, is foreclosed by binding case law and statutory authority, and does not present any issue of substantial importance that needs to be resolved by this Court. This case does not meet the standard for of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

#### C. The Court of Appeals' Award of Attorney Fees and Sanctions Does Not Warrant Review.

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